#### **Uldaho Law**

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-3-2019

# Berrett v. Clark County School District No. 161 Appellant's Brief Dckt. 46354

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### a. Nature of the Case.

This is a claim for violation of the Idaho Whistleblower Act Idaho, Idaho Code §§ 6-2101, et. seq., for Clark County School District's termination of its maintenance man, Ronald Ryan Berrett when he reported a building code violation related to a gas smell in the Clark County Highschool, and for violation of Idaho Public Policy for terminating Mr. Berrett's wife, Lanie Berrett, the lunch room supervisor, at the same time.

#### b. **Procedural History.**

This matter was originally filed in 2012 in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho in Case 4:12-cv-00626-EJL-CWD Berrett v. Clark County School District No. 161 asserting the following claims under federal law and claims under state law:

Ryan Berrett: 1. Wrongful termination in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 2. Wrongful eviction in violation of the Fair Housing Act, and 3. Wrongful termination in violation of the Idaho whistleblower act.

Lanie Berrett: 1. Wrongful termination in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 2. Wrongful eviction in violation of the Fair Housing Act, and 3. Wrongful termination in violation of Idaho public policy.

On September 30, 2014, the United States District Court for the District of Idaho granted summary judgment to Defendant Clark County School District No. 161 on all claims.

Plaintiffs appealed this decision to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals; the Ninth

Circuit reversed and remanded as to Plaintiff Ryan Berrett's state law claim for violation of the Idaho Whistleblower statute and as to Plaintiff Lanie Berrett's state law claim for violation of public policy for terminating her for her husband blowing the whistle on a violation of the building code.

Defendant then moved the Federal District Court to dismiss the state law claims for refiling in State Court because only state law claims remained. The Federal District Court dismissed the claim, and Plaintiff timely filed in Jefferson County, Idaho District Court.

Defendant then filed a motion for summary judgment using virtually the same facts that it had submitted when it filed its motion for summary judgment in Federal Court.

The Court issued its Opinion and Order On Parties' Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment (R. P53) and Judgment of Dismissal (R. P51) in which it disagreed with the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals and granted summary judgment to Clark County School District on virtually the same facts that were decided differently by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. In addition, the District Court found Plaintiffs' argument for protecting the wife of a whistlelower compelling, but declined to find that firing the wife of a whistleblower contravene's Idaho's public policy for lack of a precedent. (R. P53)

Plaintiffs then filed a Motion to Reconsider, and the Idaho District Court, in its Memorandum Decision on Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider (R. P75) dismissed all of the state law claims, but resurrected the federal claims that had been dismissed on summary judgment by both the U.S. District Court and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.

The Defendant then filed another Motion for Summary Judgment on the federal claims, and the Idaho District Court granted Summary Judgment on the federal claims as well. The Idaho District Court issued its Final Judgment on August 1, 2018. (R. P116)

Plaintiffs timely filed their Notice of Appeal on September 10, 2018. (R. P118).

#### c. Factual Statement.

The facts in this case are as follows:

- 1. Clark County School District No. 161 (hereinafter the "School District") hired David Kerns (hereinafter "Kerns") to be its Superintendent starting in the spring/summer of 2008. Kerns held that position until on or about May 17, 2012 when he was forced to resign. (Aug. P. 334) He was the interim Superintendent from on or about May 17, 2012 until August 1, 2012. Kerns had the authority to hire and fire employees until August 1, 2012 (he terminated the Berretts on June 27, 2012). *Kerns Depo.* pp. 38, 48, 52-53, 115, 116, 119. *Affidavit of Ryan Berrett*, ¶ 11. (Aug. P.. 290-293, 307-308).
- 2. Lanie Berrett (hereinafter "Mrs. Berrett") had been working as a cook in the lunchroom at the time of Kerns' hire, and she applied for a promotion to Food Service Supervisor in May of 2009. Kerns hired Mrs. Berrett for this position starting at the end of the school year in the spring of 2009. Kerns performed annual performance evaluations on Mrs. Berrett. Mrs. Berrett's evaluations were generally good. Mrs. Berrett received annual raises based upon performance in 2009, 2010, and 2012. She did not receive a raise in 2011 because there was a District wide freeze on all raises for salaried employees. *Kerns Depo.* pp. 61-62, 84-85. (Aug. P. 288, 299-300).
- 3. Spending more than the lunch room budget had been going on at the School District for years before Mrs. Berrett became lunchroom supervisor. *See Child Nutrition Financial Report*. (B.E.R. 354). In 2009, when Mrs. Berrett took over as lunchroom supervisor, Mrs. Berrett stayed within the budget. *Id.* On May 25, 2010, Kerns evaluated Mrs. Berrett's performance in writing.

Performance Evaluation. (B.E.R. 356). At that time, if there had a been a problem with the lunch room budget, Kerns would have known about it because he received monthly updates on the lunch room budget. Kerns Depo. pp. 63-64. (B.E.R. 294). In this performance evaluation, Kerns made no mention of a budget problem, gave an overwhelmingly positive evaluation and even praised Mrs. Berrett for applying for and getting a grant. Kerns Depo. p. 65. (B.E.R. 295). In 2011, Kerns did not do a performance evaluation of Mrs. Berrett, and he did not discipline her for any budget problems. Kerns Depo. p. 65. (B.E.R. 295). Mrs. Berrett received a raise in 2012. She remembers the performance evaluation for 2012 as being positive, and she was not disciplined. Affidavit of Lanie Berrett, ¶4. (B.E.R. 350). The District has not provided the written performance evaluation for 2012. The District admits that it knows that it is common practice in other school districts around the State of Idaho to overspend their lunchroom budgets. Kerns Depo. p. 72. (B.E.R. 296). Mrs. Berrett was never disciplined for budget overruns until she was fired June 27, 2012 along with her husband, Mr. Berrett. Kerns Depo. p. 73, 79. (B.E.R. 297-298). Mrs. Berret applied for and received at least two grants to supplement the lunchroom budget. Kerns Depo. p. 74. (B.E.R. 297). Applying for these grants was going above and beyond the duties of the lunchroom supervisor, and no other lunchroom supervisors at the District had ever done this. Kerns Depo. p. 80-81. (B.E.R. 298-299). At the time Mrs. Berrett was terminated, she had over fifteen thousand dollars worth of usable food on hand, she didn't waste the food, and she was going into the less costly summer months. Kerns Depo. p. 73. Affidavit of Lanie Berrett, ¶4. (B.E.R. 297, 350). In fact, Mrs. Berrett's replacement was able to use the food that was stored up and not go over budget in 2012. Defendant's Statement of Facts ¶ 14. (B.E.R. 102).

4. In the termination letter Kerns sent Mrs. Berrett on June 27<sup>th</sup>, 2012, the reasons stated

for the termination are overspending the food service budget and unsatisfactory performance. *Kerns Depo.*, Exhibit 10. (B.E.R. 328). Mrs. Berrett had always received positive performance evaluations and had not overspent the Food Service budget in any year. *Affidavit of Lanie Berrett*, ¶ 5. (B.E.R. 350).

5. On June 28, 2010, Lanie Berrett entered into a Residential Lease-Rental Agreement and Deposit Receipt (hereinafter the "Lease") with the District to rent a residential trailer from the school district. Kerns Depo., Exhibit 6. (B.E.R. 319-321). The Lease provided that Lanie Berrett would pay \$350.00 per month in rent, but the district actually only charged her \$50.00 per month and allowed her and Mr. Berrett to "work off" the rest of the rent each month. Kerns Depo. p. 88, Affidavit of Lanie Berrett, ¶ 6. (B.E.R. 300, 350). This continued until the spring of 2012 when the District unilaterally decided to discontinue giving Mrs. Berrett this benefit because the District felt it might affect Mr. Berrett's disability status. Kerns Depo. p. 90. (B.E.R. 301). This did not affect the District in any way. Id. The District did not discuss this with Mr. or Mrs. Berrett before it took away this housing benefit; the District simply stopped giving Mr. Berrett credit for the extra hours that he worked. Kerns Depo. p. 91. (B.E.R. 301). Paragraph 23 of the Lease specifically prohibits "discrimination in the . . . financing . . . of housing on the basis of . . . handicap . . ." On June 27th, the district fired both Mr. and Mrs. Berrett. The District claims that one of the requirements to live in the District's housing is that the individual must be a District employee. Defendant's Statement of Facts, ¶ 1. (B.E.R. 96). The Lease does not contain this requirement. See Lease. (B.E.R. 319-321). When Mr. Kerns terminated Mr. and Mrs. Berrett's employment in letters dated June 27, 2012, he required as follows: "Since you are currently using District housing, you must also vacate that dwelling by Monday, July 9th, 2012 . . ." Kerns Depo. Exhibits 10 and 11. (B.E.R. 328-329).

6. On April 10, 2010, Ronald Ryan Berrett (hereinafter "Mr. Berrett") applied for the job of maintenance supervisor for the District. Kerns Depo. p. 91, Exhibit 7. (B.E.R. 301, 322). Mr. Berrett applied for a part-time job because of his disability. Kerns Depo. p. 92. (B.E.R. 301). At the time he applied for the job, he had been volunteering at the district for over a year. Kerns Depo. pp. 92-93. (B.E.R. 301-302). At the time he applied for the job, the District knew about his disability and considered him to be disabled. Kerns Depo. pp. 93-94. (B.E.R. 302). Before Mr. Berrett was hired part time, the same position was filled by a full time, non-disabled individual—Randy Wilson. Kerns Depo. pp. 94-97. (B.E.R. 302-303). At the time he was interviewed and hired in April, 2010, Mr. Berrett told Kerns that he was disabled and Kerns assured Mr. Berrett that they would hire him some help for physical duties, and he would only have to call contractors and do light duties. Affidavit of Ryan Berrett, ¶ 3. (B.E.R. 331). Kerns knew that Mr. Berrett had problems physically on one side of his body, walks with a limp, has trouble walking and that it was hard for him to climb a ladder. Kerns Depo. pp. 99-100. (B.E.R. 303). Mr. Berrett repeatedly asked Kerns to hire help to do the physical labor involved in the job because Mr. Berrett was unable to do it due to his disability. Kerns Depo., p. 100. Affidavit of Ryan Berrett, ¶ 4. Affidavit of Erin Haight-Mortensen, Exhibit A, p. 2, Doc. No. 20-9. (B.E.R. 303, 331, 155). Despite the requests, Mr. Kerns did not hire anyone else besides Mrs. Berrett to accommodate Mr. Berrett requests. Kerns Depo., p. 100. (B.E.R. 303). Kerns did performance evaluations on Mr. Berrett verbally each year; they were always positive. Kerns Depo., pp. 103-104. (B.E.R. 304). Until the termination letter dated June 27, 2012, Kerns was happy with Mr. Berrett's work performance. Kerns Depo., p. 125. (B.E.R. 310).

7. In January 2012, Mr. Berrett started getting calls every other day about strong odor

of propane in the old gymnasium from business manager (Gayle Woods) and guidance counselor (Lisa Richards). He had High Plains Propane come over to check for a propane smell. They said their instrument did not pick up any propane odor whatsoever. He was still getting calls from the same individuals, so he called Kerns. He told Mr. Berrett that he didn't know what to tell him. He called Kerns again and told him he was going to have Sermon Service and Electric come out, and he was also going to lock the old gym up. Mr. Berrett started going through master blue prints while waiting for Sermon and noticed that the propane tank was supposed to be an 18,000 gallon tank and it was only a 6,000 gallon tank. *Affidavit of Ryan Berrett*, ¶ 6. (B.E.R. 331).

- 8. In February 2012 Mr. Berrett noticed a unit that sits next to the propane tank. He went to the blue prints and realized that it was a vaporizer. Its purpose is to turn liquid propane into a vapor which is necessary to run propane appliances. He printed out literature on vaporizers and showed the print out to Kerns, but Kerns did not seem concerned. A Sermon technician came to the school. He checked the tank size and calculated how much propane it would take to supply all of the appliances. He said when he got a quotation ready, he would fax it to Mr. Berrett. Mr. Berrett informed Dave Kerns of this and told him he would bring the quotation to him when he got it. *Affidavit of Ryan Berrett*, ¶ 7. (B.E.R. 332).
- 9. Mr. Berrett got the quotation from Sermon on or about March 13, 2012 and showed it to Kerns. *See Kerns Depo.*, Exhibit 8, (B.E.R. 327). *Affidavit of Ryan Berrett*, Exhibit A. (B.E.R. 339). Kerns wanted to know what they were looking at as far as costs to fix the system. Mr. Berrett told Kerns it would probably be 60 to 100 thousand dollars to fix it so that it would pass code vessel inspection. Kerns said Berrett just needed to keep quiet about it. Mr. Berrett told him again that this was very dangerous, and it could not be ignored. Now that they had Sermon

involved, no one would work on the propane appliances until the problem was fixed. Mr. Berrett told him that if he did not tell the Board of Trustees, Berrett would. Mr. Berrett never heard any more about the problem, so he gave a copy of the quotation to the Chairman of the Board of Trustees (Erin Haight-Mortensen) and told her he had already gone to the Superintendent with the quotation and got the feeling that he did not want to deal with the problem. He also gave her information for emergency funding that was available through the state for dealing with immanent safety hazards. The quotation from Sermon states that the problem with the propane presents a safety hazard and is in violation of Idaho code. See Kerns Depo., Exhibit 8. (B.E.R. 327). Affidavit of Ryan Berrett, ¶ 8. (B.E.R. 332-333). This was the very first time anyone at the School District became aware that the propane smell was a violation of the Idaho building code.

- 10. In April, 2012 Mr. Berrett wrote a monthly Board letter addressed "Propane Issue and Best Way to Remedy Situation," but he never got an ok to move forward on the project. He kept the old gym locked. He told the superintendent he could not or would not unlock it until the propane problem was fixed. Kerns told Mr. Berrett to unlock the gymnasium so that the children could use it. They argued in Berrett's office about it. Berrett asked Kerns if he was willing to damage all the propane appliances and risk possible danger to people's lives in and outside the school. Kerns said he did not know what else to do. Once again Berrett asked if Kerns had looked into the emergency funding. Berrett said that he had looked into it, and it was available but they needed to apply for it. Kerns did not answer and walked away. Affidavit of Ryan Berrett, ¶ 9. (B.E.R. 333).
- 11. In April and May, 2012, leading up the Executive Board meeting of May 17, 2012, the Superintendent called Mr. Berrett several times and threatening his wife's job and also saying bad things about Mrs. Berrett. *Affidavit of Ryan Berrett*, ¶ 10, Exhibit B. (B.E.R. 333, 341-342).

- 12. On or about May 17<sup>th</sup>, 2012 the School Board held another executive Board meeting. Mike Holden (Sermon Electric), Randy Mead (manager of High Plains Propane), and Mr. Berrett were called before the Board and asked one at a time if they thought that the Superintendent knew that the propane problem could possibly cause injury to human life. They all said yes. The next day Sherry Mead, who is on the Board, told Mr. Berrett that Kerns had been let go because he ignored the safety issue. They just hoped that he would find another job so they did not have to honor one more year of his contract. *Affidavit of Ryan Berrett*, ¶ 11. (B.E.R. 334).
- 13. After they testified against Mr. Kerns at the May 17, 2012 board meeting and through June, 2012, Mr. and Mrs. Berrett were harassed almost daily by the Superintendent, Business Manager, and some School Board Members. They said Mrs. Berrett was over budget. She did a complete inventory and had around 12 to 15 thousand dollars worth of useable stock. Kerns told her that it does not look good for a manager to have leftover inventory even though it could be used for summer school and for the next year. *Affidavit of Ryan Berrett*, ¶ 13. (B.E.R. 334).
- 14. On June 18, 2012, Mr. Berrett wrote a Facebook post and sent it to members of the school board to report the District's unwillingness to accommodate his disability, frustration over his benefits for housing being cut because of his disability, and to express his frustration over the retaliation against him for pointing out the safety concern and code violation of the propane tank. *Affidavit of Ryan Berrett*, ¶ 16, Exhibit C. (B.E.R. 334-335, 343).
- 15. Kerns was forced to resign by the school board after the testimony of Mr. Berrett, Holden, and Mead, but he stayed on as interim superintendent until a new superintendent could be hired. *Kerns Depo.*, pp. 116-117. (B.E.R. 307-308).
  - 16. After he resigned, but while he was waiting for his replacement, Superintendent

Kerns terminated both Mr. an Mrs. Berrett by letters dated June 27<sup>th</sup>, 2012. *Kerns Depo.*, Exhibits 10 and 11.(B.E.R. 328-329).

- 17. In the termination letter Kerns sent Mr. Berrett on June 27<sup>th</sup>, 2012, one of the reasons stated for the termination is that Mr. Berrett was not "keeping lights replaced and in working order" and was not performing his duties satisfactorily. *Kerns Depo.*, Exhibit 11. (B.E.R. 329). Mr. Berrett was terminated for his inability to change light bulbs and his inability to keep up with the physical duties of the job without an accommodation. *Id*.
- 18. In the termination letter Kerns sent Mr. Berrett on June 27<sup>th</sup>, 2012, one of the reasons stated for the termination is that Mr. Berrett was insubordinate. The only instance of insubordination referred to by either party is Mr. Berrett's refusal to unlock the old gymnasium for safety reasons. *Kerns Depo.*, Exhibit 11. (B.E.R. 329).
- 19. In the termination letter Kerns sent Mr. Berrett on June 27<sup>th</sup>, 2012, one of the reasons stated for the termination is that he "ridiculed personnel through social media on the Internet." *Kerns Depo.*, Exhibit 11. (B.E.R. 329). The Facebook post cited by Defendant as a reason for Mr. Berrett's termination is yet another request for an accommodation, a complaint about the housing discrimination, and a complaint about the District's failure to address the unsafe propane issue. The post, dated June 18 (2012) states in pertinent part: "I have ran the maintenance Department for Clark county school district for 2 years by myself, without any help even though I have asked for it every year. . ." and "I am very disabled and I have done this job by myself for 800.00 a month and I feel I should not have to take a 300.00 decrease in pay" and "I strongly feel this out of retaliation because our Administration did not want to address an issue that could have endangered the lives of children." *Affidavit of Erin Haight-Mortensen*, Exhibit A, p. 2, Doc. No. 20-9. (B.E.R. 155). The

Berretts were fired nine days after Mr. Berrett posted this and the school board, through its member Erin Haight-Mortensen, received it. *Affidavit of Erin Haight-Mortensen*, ¶ 19, *Kerns Depo*. Exhibits 10 and 11. (B.E.R. 149-150, 328-329).

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