Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-24-2019

Berrett v. Clark County School District No. 161 Respondent's Brief Dckt. 46354

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

(R. 68.) (emphasis added). Based on the district court's accurate analysis, it further stated, "drawing reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, Ryan's 'termination had nothing to do with the propane issue' or any other protected activity." (R. 69.) The district court similarly determined Lanie Berrett's claim failed for a lack of causal connection. (R. 71; 112.)

Appellants have not challenged the district court's decision with regard to a causal connection and have therefore waived such issue on appeal. "A party waives an issue cited on appeal if either authority or argument is lacking, not just if both are lacking." *Bolognese v. Forte*, 153 Idaho 857, 866, 292 P.3d 248, 257 (2012) (quoting *State v. Zichko*, 129 Idaho 259, 263, 923 P.2d 966, 970 (1996)). Here, Appellants have neither cited the lack of causal connection as an issue on appeal nor have they made any argument on such issue in their opening brief.

Consequently, this Court need not conduct a review of Appellants' issues on appeal because, even assuming this Court agreed with Appellants on every issue presented in their opening brief, the district court's dismissal of the case must be affirmed where one of the alternative grounds for dismissal is not challenged here.

To be considered by this Court on appeal, an appellant is required to identify legal issues and provide authorities supporting the arguments in the opening brief. *See* I.A.R. 35. "A reviewing court looks to the initial brief on appeal for the issues presented on appeal." *Myers v. Workmen's Auto. Ins. Co.*, 140 Idaho 495, 508, 95 P.3d 977, 990 (2004). "This Court will not search the record for error. We do not presume error on appeal; the party alleging error has the burden of showing it in the record." *Bolognese v. Forte*, 153 Idaho 857, 866, 292 P.3d 248, 257 (2012) (quoting *Miller v. Callear*, 140 Idaho 213, 218, 91 P.3d 1117, 1122 (2004)).

Idaho Appellate Rule 35(a)(6) requires that "[t]he argument shall contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented on appeal, the reasons therefor, with citations

to authorities, statutes and parts of the transcript and the record relied upon." *Taylor v. AIA Servs. Corp.*, 151 Idaho 552, 568, 261 P.3d 829, 845 (2011); *see also Cummings v. Stephens*, 157 Idaho 348, 362, 336 P.3d 281, 295 (2014). For instance, in *Liponis v. Bach*, this Court declined to reach certain issues on appeal because the appellant "failed to support them with either relevant argument and authority or coherent thought." 149 Idaho 372, 374, 234 P.3d 696, 698 (2010). Similarly, in *Hogg v. Wolske*, this Court refused to consider whether an award of attorney fees was error because the appellants failed to properly raise the issue on appeal. 142 Idaho 549, 557–58, 130 P.3d 1087, 1095–96 (2006).

In this case, although one of the district court's grounds for dismissing their case was the lack of a causal connection between their terminations and the alleged protected activity,

Appellants have not raised that issue on appeal. This is dispositive. Nowhere in their opening brief have Appellants attempted to argue that the district court was incorrect in determining

Appellants' respective terminations were not causally connected to Mr. Berrett's alleged report of the propane leak. It follows that Appellants necessarily concede that the district court's decision was correct in this regard. Because Appellants have waived any ability to now argue causal connection, the district court's decision in that regard must stand and this Court should simply affirm the district court's summary judgment decision.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED APPELLANTS' WHISTLEBLOWER CLAIM ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE MR. BERRETT DID NOT ENGAGE IN PROTECTED ACTIVITY.

Although this Court should not consider the issues raised in Appellants' appeal where they have not challenged one of the grounds for dismissal of their case, the School District will address each of the issues in its response brief out of an abundance of caution. Summary judgment was appropriate in this matter because Appellants failed to present a genuine issue of

material fact to support their claim that they were terminated in violation of Idaho's Whistleblower Act. The Idaho Protection of Public Employees Act ("Idaho Whistleblower Act"), I.C. §§ 6-2101 *et seq.*, provides "a legal cause of action for public employees who experience adverse action from their employer as a result of reporting waste and violations of a law, rule or regulation." I.C. § 6-2101. To be afforded protection under the Act, I.C. § 6-2104 provides in relevant part as follows:

- (1)(a) An employer may not take adverse action against an employee because the employee, or a person authorized to act on behalf of the employee, communicates in good faith the existence of any waste of public funds, property or manpower, or a violation or suspected violation of a law, rule or regulation adopted under the law of this state or the United States. Such communication shall be made at a time and in a manner which gives the employer reasonable opportunity to correct the waste or violation.
- (b) For purposes of paragraph (a) of this subsection, an employee communicates in good faith if there is a reasonable basis in fact for the communication. Good faith is lacking where the employee knew or reasonably ought to have known that the report is malicious, false or frivolous.

I.C. § 6-2104(a) and (b) (emphasis added). Under the Idaho Whistleblower Act, a *prima facie* case for retaliatory discharge required that Appellants establish: (1) the purported communications regarding the propane leak constituted a protected activity; (2) the School District's decision to terminate Mr. Berrett's employment constituted an adverse action; and (3) there was a causal connection between the protected activity and the adverse action. *See e.g. Curlee v. Kootenai Cty. Fire & Rescue*, 148 Idaho 391, 397, 224 P.3d 458, 464 (2008).

In this case, the district court correctly determined Appellants failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Mr. Berrett engaged in a protected activity and whether there was any causal connection between his termination and alleged protected activity. There was no reasonable basis for Mr. Berrett's supposed reporting of a propane leak because the

leak was already known to the School Board and was being addressed by third-party service providers. In fact, Mr. Berrett was tasked as part of his employment with the School District to contact the service providers and resolve the issue. Consequently, Mr. Berrett's alleged report did not constitute protected activity under Idaho's Whistleblower Act.

A. For the first time on appeal, Appellants argue they were harassed, illegally evicted, and received reduced wages in retaliation for reporting a building code violation.

Throughout their opening brief, Appellants improperly allege they were harassed, illegally evicted, and received reduced wages in retaliation for reporting a building code violation. *See* Appellants' Brief, p. 13; 32; 43. Appellants' argument should not be considered by this Court because it was never argued to the district court. Not only was this argument never raised below, it was never pled in this case. In their complaint, the only adverse actions Appellants allege violated Idaho's Whistleblower Act were their terminations. (R. 31–32.) "[I]ssues not raised below but raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered or reviewed." *Krempasky v. Nez Perce Cty. Planning & Zoning*, 150 Idaho 231, 236, 245 P.3d 983, 988 (2010) (quoting *Whitted v. Canyon Cty. Bd. of Comm'rs*, 137 Idaho 118, 122, 44 P.3d 1173, 1177 (2002)).

Unfortunately, it appears Appellants are attempting to bolster their position and garner improper sympathy by fabricating additional alleged adverse employment actions. These newly alleged adverse employment actions should not be considered by this Court. The School District draws attention to this issue because the Court will see that the district court's analysis pertains to Appellants' terminations only. It is important this Court is aware that the district court properly considered termination to be the only alleged adverse action in violation of Idaho's Whistleblower Act because Appellants never argued nor pled there were any other adverse actions. Because it was not argued to the district court, this Court should disregard any argument

from Appellants that they were harassed, illegally evicted, and/or received reduced wages in retaliation for reporting a building code violation.

B. The district court correctly determined the law of the case doctrine does not apply in this case because Idaho courts are not bound by federal court decisions on issues of state law.

The district court properly granted summary judgment to the School District because Mr. Berrett did not engage in protected activity when he purports to have reported a building code violation of which the School Board was already aware. Throughout this case before the district court, and now on appeal, the Appellants continue to erroneously assert that the Ninth Circuit's decision in their prior federal case, Case No. 4:12-cv-00626-EJL-CWD, must be the law of the case here. The district court correctly relied on this Court's precedent in stating, "state district courts are not required to treat federal district or federal circuit court decisions or interpretations of Idaho law as binding." (R. 86.) (citing State v. McNeely, 162 Idaho 413, 398 P.3d 146, 148 (2017)). State v. McNeely is directly on point here where it addresses whether a district court must follow Ninth Circuit decisions on the same issue of law. Whether Ninth Circuit decisions are binding on Idaho courts is precisely what the district court was faced with in this case. Appellants incorrectly argue that State v. McNeely does not apply in this case based upon their continual misstatement of the procedural history, maintaining their new state court case is somehow the same exact case as their prior federal case. Appellants refuse to acknowledge that the federal court dismissed their prior federal case and that the present action is a new case.

Appellants originally filed a lawsuit against the School District in federal court, Case No. 4:12-cv-00626-EJL-CWD. Judge Lodge granted summary judgment on September 30, 2014 in favor of the School District as to all claims and entered judgment. (Aug. P. 440–464.) Appellants subsequently appealed the case to the Ninth Circuit, and the case was remanded for further

proceedings on Appellants' state law claims only. (R. 15–18.) The Ninth Circuit affirmed the federal district court's dismissal of Appellants' federal law claims. Because there had been final judgment on all of Appellants' federal claims, which judgment was affirmed by the Ninth Circuit, Judge Lodge declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims and dismissed without prejudice the only remaining claims. (R. 19–23.) Appellants elected to initiate a new case in Jefferson County on May 4, 2017. They were not required to do so but under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d) were permitted to bring a cause of action in state court within 30 days without being prejudiced by the applicable statute of limitations. Thus, while final judgment was entered as to Appellants' federal claims, there was no final judgment on Appellants' state law claims at issue in this case.

While it is true that an Idaho appellate court's decision becomes the law of the case and would become binding on the district court in the same case, those are not the facts here. Idaho state courts are simply not bound by federal court decisions, and federal courts are not bound by state court decisions. Indeed, the Ninth Circuit has recognized that even in the same case federal courts are not bound by state court decisions. *See Preaseau v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Am.*, 591 F.2d 74, 79 (9th Cir. 1979). In *Preaseau*, the case originated in California state court but was subsequently removed to federal court. *Id.* Prior to removal, the state court denied the defendant's motion for summary judgment. *Id.* However, once removed to federal court, the defendant again moved for summary judgment, which the federal court granted. *Id.* On appeal, the Ninth Circuit determined a federal court is not bound by a state court's decision. *Id.*Likewise, here the district court was not bound by a federal court's decision. The issues here pertain to interpretation of state law only. There is no doubt the district court was in a better position than a federal court to decide and interpret matters governed by state law.

Idaho courts routinely apply the law of the case doctrine to "maintain consistency and avoid reconsideration of matters once decided during the course of a single continuing lawsuit...." State v. Dunlap, 155 Idaho 345, 375–76, 313 P.3d 1, 31–32 (2013) (quoting Ingle v. Circuit City, 408 F.3d 592, 594 (9th Cir. 2005)) (emphasis added). The law of the case doctrine provides that "upon an appeal, the Supreme Court, in deciding a case presented[,] states in its opinion a principle or rule of law necessary to the decision, such pronouncement becomes the law of the case, and must be adhered to throughout its subsequent progress, both in the trial court and upon subsequent appeal..." Stuart v. State, 136 Idaho 490, 495, 36 P.3d 1278, 1283 (2001) (quoting Swanson v. Swanson, 134 Idaho 512, 515, 5 P.3d 973, 976 (2000)). This Court recognizes at least two exceptions to the law of the case doctrine—first, when there is an intervening change in the law, and second, when additional facts are presented to the court. See e.g. State v. Dunlap, 155 Idaho 345, 375–76, 313 P.3d 1, 31–32 (2013) ("Courts have recognized an exception to the doctrine based upon intervening changes in the law"); see also Swanson v. Swanson, 134 Idaho 512, 516, 5 P.3d 973, 977 (2000) ("where an appellate court states a principle of law in deciding a case, that rule becomes the law of the case and is controlling both in the lower court and on subsequent appeals as long as the facts are substantially the same").

Here, the district court correctly recognized this case is not the same as Appellants' previous federal case that was dismissed. In its memorandum decision, the district court specifically stated:

This new case was filed in a separate jurisdiction from Plaintiffs' earlier case, and was assigned a new case number (Jefferson County case no. CV-2017-0328). Although Plaintiffs assert that the case filed in Jefferson County is the *same case*, it is not. As quoted above, the Idaho Supreme Court has previously announced that the law of the case only applies "in that particular case." Based on the Court's reasoning and analysis the two cases are different and separate. Therefore, the law of the case does not apply.

Moreover, even if the law of the case doctrine did extend beyond the case in which the ruling was made, the doctrine is not applicable here because the School District submitted additional evidence to the district court. Where additional facts were brought before the district court, such circumstances serve as an exception to the law of the case doctrine. The district court correctly held the facts presented in this case are not substantially the same as those presented in Appellants' previous federal case, stating:

...the Defendant has filed new affidavits. These affidavits offer facts not before the federal district court or the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. Specifically, these affidavits state that the District was aware of the propane leak in January and recognized it was a building code violation; even though it was unable to isolate the cause or source of the leak.

(R. 88–89.) In making its determination in the federal case, the Ninth Circuit was bound by the record before it on appeal. In this new case in state court, the district court was certainly not bound by the appellate record in the prior federal case. The Ninth Circuit's determination on appeal of Appellants' prior federal case was based on the fact that the appellate record failed to differentiate between *knowledge of the propane leak* and *knowledge of a violation of law*. Although the School District believes this distinction amounts to mere semantics, it nonetheless provided the district court with multiple affidavits that demonstrate the School District was not only aware of the propane leak, but also that the propane leak was a building code violation. Because this case is not the same as Appellants' prior federal case and the district court had additional evidence before it, the district court correctly determined the law of the case doctrine cannot apply.

Lastly, the doctrine of *res judicata* does not apply to Appellants' whistleblower claim because there had never previously been a final judgment on the issue. Appellants have made

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